THE ESTABLISHMENT
INVESTMENT TRUST PLC

Annual Report and Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Job No: 34941

Proof Event: 1

Customer: PraxisIFM

Project Title: Establishment Investment Trust Annual Report 2018

Black Line Level: 0

Park Communications Ltd

Alpine Way London E6 6LA

T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

Annual Report 31 March 2018

The Establishment Investment Trust plc

Contents
STRATEGIC REPORT
Objective of the Company

2

Investment Policy

2

Financial Highlights for the Year

2

Performance

3

Chairman’s Statement

4

Board Members

6

Portfolio Holdings

7

Analysis of Investment Portfolio

8

Investment Manager’s Report

9

Other Information

11

GOVERNANCE
Directors’ Report
–

Statutory Information

15

–

Corporate Governance Statement

20

Report of the Audit and Risk Committee

25

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

27

Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report

29

FINANCIALS
Auditor’s Report and the Financial Statements
–

Independent Auditor’s Report

32

–

Income Statement

39

–

Statement of Financial Position

40

–

Statement of Changes in Equity

41

–

Statement of Cash Flows

42

–

Notes to the Financial Statements

43

OTHER INFORMATION
Glossary

56

Notice of Meeting and Company Information
–

Notice of Annual General Meeting

58

–

Company Information

60



Page 1

Job No: 34941

Proof Event: 12

Customer: PraxisIFM

Project Title: Establishment Investment Trust Annual Report 2018

Black Line Level: 2

Park Communications Ltd

Alpine Way London E6 6LA

T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

The Establishment Investment Trust plc

Annual Report 31 March 2018

Objective of the Company
The investment objective of the Company is to achieve long-term capital growth from a managed
international portfolio of securities. The preservation of capital is of primary importance to the investment
objective.
The Company aims to achieve absolute returns and is not managed by reference to any equity or bond index
or benchmark.

Investment policy
•	To invest primarily in equities issued by companies listed on regulated markets. With the prior approval
of the Board, the Company may invest in unlisted securities.
•	Up to 30% of net assets may be invested in investment products managed by the Company’s Investment
Manager. The Company may also hold positions in investment products managed by third parties.
•	Up to a maximum of 15% of net assets (at cost at the date of investment) may be invested in any
one security.
•

The Company may borrow up to a maximum of 50% of net assets.

Financial Highlights for the Year
Performance for the year ended 31 March 2018

Share price
Net asset value per share**
FTSE UK Private Investor Balanced Index***
MSCI UK Equity***
MSCI AC World Index***
MSCI AC Asia ex Japan Equity***

At 31 March
2018

Total return
(%)*

208.00p
246.58p

+8.92
-2.53
+1.78
-0.24
+2.64
+12.44

* Source: Bloomberg.
** This is considered to be an alternative performance measure (‘APM’).
*** These percentages are total returns in GBP sterling.

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’)
The disclosures as indicated by footnote ** above are considered to represent the Company’s APMs. In
addition to the above APMs, other performance measures have been used by the Company to assess
its performance, which can be found in the key performance indicators section of this annual report, on
page 13. Definitions of these APMs together with how these measures have been calculated can be found
in the Glossary on page 56.
The APMs as disclosed in this annual report are not Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (‘GAAP’)
measures and they are not intended to substitute for GAAP measures.
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Performance
Share Price performance relative to the Net Asset Value
and FTSE UK Private Investor Balanced Index
since inception 18 March 2002 to 31 March 2018 (total return)
350%
300%
250%
200%
150%
100%
50%
0%
-50%
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

EIT Price TR

EIT NAV TR

FTSE UK PI Balanced

Data in GBP sterling, FTSE Index, Net Dividends.
Share price and net asset value total returns above include dividends paid.

Cumulative performance to 31 March 2018 (a) (b)
Share Price Total Return
Net Asset Value Total Return
FTSE UK Private Investor Balanced
Index Total Return

1 year
%

3 years
%

5 years
%

10 years
%

+8.92
-2.53

+33.28
+19.21

+20.50
+10.17

+93.17
+92.16

+1.78

+20.97

+42.99

+97.00

31 March
2017

31 March
2018

Change (%)

5.70p
4.30p
10.0p

6.00p
4.30p
10.3p

+5.3
0.0
+3.0

31 March
2017
£’000

31 March
2018
£’000

Change (%)

1,442
1,050
5.25p

1,731
1,220
6.10p

+20.0
+16.2
+16.2

(a) Source: Bloomberg.
(b) These are considered to be KPIs.

Dividends per share payable
Interim and final
Special dividend
Total dividends

Revenue highlights

Income from investments
Revenue return for the financial year
Revenue return per Ordinary Share
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Chairman’s Statement
Performance
I am pleased to present the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2018. Measured by
total return, including the 10.5p of dividends paid during the year, the share price rose by 8.9%, although
the net asset value (NAV) fell by 2.5%. Excluding dividends, the share price increased by 3.9% while the
NAV fell by 6.3%. Since the Company listed as an investment trust in 2002, the share price total return has
been 7.3% per annum while the NAV has returned 8.1% per annum.
The Company’s mandate is global and the majority of assets remain invested throughout Asia. In previous
years, the weakness of sterling has been something of a tailwind to performance but the recovery of
sterling, which rose 11.9% against the US dollar during the year, detracted from results. Asian markets
performed strongly until correcting sharply during February and March 2018. Global markets sold off on
fears of resurgent inflation as a corollary of world economic recovery and on concerns that USA/China
tit-for-tat tariffs would develop into a full blown trade war. A feature of Asian stock markets has been the
narrow concentration of gains in predominantly technology stocks reflecting not only their growth potential
but also the pursuit of index heavyweights by the large amount of money now managed by passive ETF
strategies.
The Company’s UK exposure has provided useful income even though the strength of sterling proved
unhelpful given that our investments are predominantly in overseas concerns. The Investment Manager
continues to find interesting new investment ideas although two more recent purchases have severely
disappointed, as explained in the Investment Manager’s report.
Outlook
While the strength of global recovery has led to encouraging corporate earnings revisions in Asia, supporting
higher equity valuations, the outlook remains dominated by the actions of the US Federal Reserve in
determining monetary policy and interest rates. Liquidity plays a major role in determining the level of equity
markets and if the Fed attempts to normalise policy after a decade of unprecedented monetary expansion
in a way that miscalculates the strength of the recovery, this will exert inevitable pressure on asset prices.
The intention appears to be to increase interest rates by three or four times during 2018 with a reduction in
the Federal Reserve’s balance sheet by about US$1 trillion over the next two years. If this proves excessive,
we can expect a radical about turn; a sort of “Grand Old Duke of York” policy of marching up to the top of
hill and marching down again. A stronger US dollar and higher interest rates tend to unsettle Asian markets
and to exacerbate the credit issues of weaker, emerging market, off shore corporates and Governments, as
evidenced by recent developments in Argentina.
Against this, inter Asian trade and consumption trends appear robust, and the Chinese Government’s agenda
to tackle credit problems and overcapacity, while rolling out sizeable infrastructure programmes, remains
on track. Geopolitically, a rapprochement with North Korea is a potentially ground breaking development.
Conversely, the Middle East is a still a cauldron, which could boil over to further boost strengthening oil
prices.
The portfolio remains largely invested in companies which offer strong sustainable, as opposed to cyclical,
growth. This strategy should continue to deliver solid total returns over time, potentially with less market
volatility. Indeed, market sell-offs usually throw up opportunities to buy into attractive businesses.
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The MiFID II and PRIIPS regulations came into force in January 2018. The Company entered into a Research
Purchasing Agreement with the Investment Manager to underwrite the cost of procuring third party sell
side research under the MiFID II rules which was considered appropriate in relation to our Investment
Manager’s overall scale of operations. Agreements have been revised with service providers and the IMA has
been amended to come into line with the General Data Protection Regulations (“GDPR”) which came into
force on 25 May 2018. A privacy notice has been posted on the Investment Manager’s website. The Board
spends an increasing amount of time ensuring that the Company meets onerous, complex regulatory and
compliance requirements while trying to control costs.

STRATEGIC REPORT

Regulation

Dividend
The Board is keen to improve the profile of the Company and the discount to NAV should be attractive to
investors looking for long term capital growth. Without the power to buy back shares, the Board believes
that a progressive dividend policy is an appropriate way to improve the share price discount to net asset
value, which has narrowed from 23.9% to 15.6% during the financial year.
The Board proposes a final dividend of 3.0p, which taking into account the increase in the interim dividend
from 2.5p to 3.0p, will lift the total dividend to 6.0p for the financial year. The Board also proposes an
unchanged special dividend of 4.3p per share funded from capital reserves. This will lift the total distribution
for the year to 10.3p, an increase of 3% over last year.

Harry Wells
Chairman
12 June 2018
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Board Members
Harry Wells a), b), c) Chairman, has over 40 years’ experience within the investment industry primarily
as a stockbroker specialising in Asia, based in London and Hong Kong, latterly as a Managing Director of
Salomon Smith Barney. He is also Chairman of CC Japan Income & Growth Trust plc and Martin Currie Asia
Unconstrained Trust plc. He holds an MA from Cambridge University, is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute
for Securities & Investment and a Member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.
Jim Ryall a), b), c) has 30 years of experience in investment banking, private equity and broking. For the last
ten years he has been a partner at EFP Capital specializing in both structuring and international fund raising
for institutional and private clients. Prior to this he was the CEO of Hamilton Lane in London responsible
for fund raising and the group’s non-US client base. The majority of his investment banking experience was
with Flemings in London, and Jardine Fleming in Hong Kong and Malaysia, where he was country head with
global responsibility for the Malaysian and Singapore equity markets. He was a commissioned officer in the
Royal Marines and holds a BA from the University of Warwick.
Gregory Shenkman a), b), c) Audit and Risk Committee Chairman and Senior Independent Director, has
40 years’ experience in investment banking including corporate finance, advisory, debt and equity capital
markets and equity brokerage business, latterly as a managing director and global partner at the Rothschild
Investment Banking Group. He was, for five years, the regional head of Rothschild’s Asian businesses. He is
a Director of Martin Currie Asia Unconstrained Trust plc. He holds an MA from Cambridge University.
Susan Thornton has 40 years’ experience within the investment industry and has previously held senior
positions at a number of financial institutions including GT Management and Robert Fleming. Prior to
her retirement, Susan was a Director of Fleming International Investment Management Limited with
responsibility for global clients’ European investments. She is currently a Trustee of a number of charities.
Tom Waring is the Chief Executive Officer of Blackfriars Asset Management Limited. Tom was formerly
Group Head of Investments and Senior Executive Director of Bahrain based Gulf Finance House (GFH),
a major listed Islamic investment bank, with responsibility for GFH’s asset management, venture capital
and private equity business. He has over 30 years’ investment management industry experience and was
previously based in London as CEO of First State Investments International Limited, the international
subsidiary of Commonwealth Bank of Australia. He was also formerly CEO of First State Investment in Asia,
Partner and International CEO of Nicholas Applegate Capital Management, Group Managing Director of
Credit Lyonnais International Asset Management and Managing Director of Royal Trust Asset Management
(Asia) Limited. He holds a BA from the University of Warwick.
a) Independent; b) Audit and Risk Committee member; c) Management Engagement Committee member.
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(All Equity Shares unless otherwise stated)
Percentage
of net
assets

Holding

377,500
53,500
294,000
42,000
82,926
987
492,700
247,933
1,057,000
233,217
5,750,000
813,596
501,000
55,000
92,000
1,546,000
2,010,000
431,263
304,800
352,000
134,750
32,211
6,310
1,737,700
73,070
1,913,000
2,300,000
5,700
19,600
55,000
6,700
78,000
485,000
14,185,637
36,000
4,500,000
–

Company

Blackfriars Oriental Focus Fund ‘B’*
British American Tobacco
Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing
Unilever
Housing Development Finance Corporation
Samsung Electronics
Samsonite International
Zee Entertainment
JNBY Design
Siam City Cement
Land & Houses
Uni-President Enterprise
Johnson Electric Holdings
Imperial Brands
GlaxoSmithKline
Sun Art Retail Group
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China
ITC
Sands China
Minth Group
National Grid
Shinhan Financial
SK Telecom
Ayala Land
Ayala Corporation
IJM Corporation
Astra International
Alibaba Group
Tencent Holdings
Sunny Optical Technology Group
Hanssem
eMemory Technology
Finetex EnE
Silver Heritage
Larsen & Toubro
Access Engineering
Other investments**
Total investments
Net current assets
Net assets

Fair value
£’000

7,071
2,210
1,769
1,661
1,650
1,630
1,590
1,555
1,522
1,374
1,366
1,363
1,339
1,333
1,282
1,281
1,228
1,201
1,166
1,141
1,081
987
986
974
943
942
867
746
729
723
692
658
583
551
515
421
–
47,130
2,185
49,315

STRATEGIC REPORT

Portfolio Holdings at 31 March 2018

Percentage
of net (portfolio look
assets through basis)

14.3
4.5
3.6
3.4
3.3
3.3
3.2
3.2
3.1
2.8
2.8
2.8
2.7
2.7
2.6
2.6
2.5
2.4
2.4
2.3
2.2
2.0
2.0
2.0
1.9
1.9
1.8
1.5
1.5
1.4
1.4
1.3
1.2
1.1
1.0
0.9
–
95.6
4.4
100.0

–
4.5
4.2
3.4
4.0
3.9
3.9
3.8
3.6
3.3
3.3
3.4
3.3
2.7
2.6
3.1
2.9
3.0
2.8
2.9
2.2
2.4
2.4
2.4
2.4
2.3
2.1
1.9
2.0
1.8
1.7
1.6
1.5
1.3
1.2
1.1
0.3
95.2
4.8
100.0

* Blackfriars Asset Management Irish domiciled and listed fund.
** ‘Other investments’ are investments held by Blackfriars Oriental Focus Fund ‘B’ which are not directly held by the
Company.
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Analysis of Investment Portfolio at 31 March 2018

Sector analysis
Consumer Discretionary
Consumer Staples
Financials
Investment Companies
Information Technology
Industrials
Technology
Materials
Health Care
Telecommunication Services
Construction & Engineering
Total investments
Net current assets
Net assets

Geographical analysis (based on listing or domicile)
Hong Kong
United Kingdom
Ireland*
India
Korea
Taiwan
Thailand
China
Philippines
Malaysia
Indonesia
Australia
Sri Lanka
Vietnam
Total investments
Net current assets
Net assets

Percentage
of net
assets

Fair value
£’000

Percentage
of net
assets

(portfolio look
through basis)

9,084
9,049
7,148
7,071
4,874
4,460
1,381
1,374
1,282
986
421
47,130
2,185
49,315

18.5
18.4
14.5
14.3
9.9
9.0
2.7
2.8
2.6
2.0
0.9
95.6
4.4
100.0

22.1
20.1
17.4
–
12.0
10.5
3.4
3.3
2.6
2.4
1.4
95.2
4.8
100.0
Percentage
of net
assets

Fair value
£’000

Percentage
of net
assets

(portfolio look
through basis)

9,491
7,567
7,071
4,921
4,878
3,790
2,740
1,974
1,917
942
867
551
421
–
47,130
2,185
49,315

19.2
15.4
14.3
9.9
9.9
7.7
5.6
4.0
3.9
1.9
1.8
1.1
0.9
–
95.6
4.4
100.0

23.4
15.4
–
12.0
11.9
9.2
6.6
4.8
4.8
2.3
2.1
1.3
1.1
0.3
95.2
4.8
100.0

* Blackfriars Asset Management Irish domiciled and listed fund. This represents the investment in Blackfriars Oriental Focus
Fund ‘B’ which is invested in Asia (ex Japan) equities.

Classification of assets
Equities
Net current assets
Net assets

Percentage
of net
assets

Fair value
£’000

Percentage
of net
assets

(portfolio look
through basis)

47,130
2,185
49,315

95.6
4.4
100.0

95.2
4.8
100.0
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For the financial year to 31 March 2018 the share price rose 3.9% while the net asset value declined by
6.3%. Including dividends totalling 10.5p paid during the year, the total returns of the share price and the
net asset value were +8.9% and -2.5% respectively. For comparative purposes the MSCI AC Asia ex Japan
Index rose 12.4%, the MSCI AC World Index gained 2.6% and the FTSE UK Private Investor Balanced Index
advanced 1.8%.The share price Discount to NAV stood at 15.6% at year end.

STRATEGIC REPORT

Investment Manager’s Report

During the second half of the financial year the share price declined by 3.6% whilst the net asset value
slipped 5.7%. Including the interim dividend of 3.0p paid to shareholders during the period, the total return
of the share price and the net asset value were -2.3% and -4.5% respectively. This compares to the 0.1%
decline in the FTSE UK Private Investor Balanced Index in sterling terms.
Longer term performance is shown graphically in the chart on page 3 which tracks the net asset value and
share price against the FTSE UK Private Investor Balanced Index since the formation of the Company.
United Kingdom portfolio
In the fourth quarter of 2014, we took the decision to sell the gold bullion position and reallocate some
20% of the Company’s assets in a small number of UK listed blue chips. The investment objectives were
twofold; firstly, to place the income generating ability of the Company on a stronger footing and secondly,
to reduce somewhat the beta, or risk, of the overall portfolio.
This strategy has been working reasonably well but, during the last financial year, not only did the UK equity
market substantially underperform Asian equities, but also our UK holdings underperformed the UK broader
market by some margin. These holdings are principally large, consumer orientated multinational companies
and your Investment Manager believes the recent underperformance is due to two factors; the increased
strength of sterling, which has pressured revenues and profitability and the rise in longer term Government
bond yields since the summer of 2016, which has led to selling pressure on so called ‘bond proxies’.
Bond proxies or not, the Company’s UK portfolio yields circa 5.5% and we reiterate the comment in the
interim report; “we remain more suspicious of sterling’s outlook than the longer term future of these
companies”. Three of the holdings have increased their annual dividend by over 35% over the last four
years while the other two have maintained dividend levels and paid special dividends to shareholders on
top. The yield premium on the FTSE over 10 year Gilts is at the highest level since the Second World War
reflecting the current level of uncertainty in the UK.
Monetary policy and global growth
The recently appointed Chairman of the Federal Reserve, Jerome Powell, appears keen to dispel any notion
that he is just another dove. While the US Dollar has drifted lower over the past year there are justifiable fears
that overzealous monetary tightening by the Federal Reserve may derail growth in the United States and
elsewhere. Multiple interest rate rises by the Federal Reserve would place pressure on the weaker currencies
in the Asian region, especially within ASEAN and in India. This may – in turn – explain why holdings such
as Astra International, IJM Group and ITC have suffered something of a derating of late. Philippine equities
in particular have been sold off aggressively with the Central Bank perceived – correctly in our view – to be
some way behind the curve as domestic demand booms, the trade deficit rises and inflation ticks higher.
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Investment Manager’s Report continued
The Trump administration has finally turned its guns toward trade imbalances and, unsurprisingly the
opening salvos have focused on China, which continues to have a substantial trade surplus with the United
States. All commentators acknowledge that there are no winners in any trade war and one hopes that both
sides will work towards an agreement. However, markets tend to shoot first and ask questions later, so the
share prices of portfolio holdings such as Minth Group and Johnson Electric, both of which are suppliers
to the global auto industry, have had an uncomfortable ride in 2018. The ongoing elevation of President
Xi and the abandonment of the two term leadership limit may have disheartened many, but a key shorter
term positive is the increased certainty, or visibility, of China’s economic policy. The shadow banking sector
will continue to be squeezed, supply side reform is ongoing and the promotion of domestic consumption
continues. Importantly the cautious, but progressive, opening of previously protected domestic sectors can
only help defuse the current trade tensions.
The longer term Asian story – that of rising consumption and a region increasingly driven by domestic
demand – remains intact and the Company’s portfolio continues to reflect your Investment Manager’s
confidence in this development. Asia remains in rude health and after a year of admittedly indifferent
returns, your Investment Manager is optimistic of making good progress in the year ahead.
Portfolio performance
We had a few successes during the year. JNBY, a Chinese clothing designer, rose nearly 50% after our
purchase last November while longer term holdings such as Tencent, Alibaba, ICBC and TSMC also
performed strongly. At the other end of the spectrum, the UK holdings and the performance of some
ASEAN and Indian positions detracted from performance.
More unhelpful were Silver Heritage and Finetex. Silver Heritage fell 38% in sterling terms. We supported
their rights issue last summer and the Tiger Palace Resort opened for business earlier this year. It will
take some time for this unique complex to breakeven but recently released monthly revenue numbers are
encouraging. Much less encouraging was the news from recent purchase Finetex, a Korean manufacturer of
nanofibres. We purchased the holding in December 2017 after a very upbeat meeting with management on
a European road show and, initially at least, the stock performed strongly. Unfortunately the year-end audit
threw up a number of irregularities and a qualified audit opinion. The KOSDAQ stock exchange suspended
the stock in March and the investment was written off in two stages, in late March and when further
information became available in early April. While we have some hope that the situation is retrievable, it is
best to plan for the worst. Accounting irregularities rarely end well.
Financial results
The portfolio generated gross income of £1,731,000 during the year, a 20% increase from the £1,442,000
generated in the preceding year thanks in part to the receipt of underwriting commission which should
be considered one off in nature. Excluding fees payable to the Investment Manager, expenses amounted
to £321,000, an increase of 13.8% relative to the previous year. The total fees payable to the Investment
Manager rose 19.8% to £362,000 (of which 80% are charged to capital). In consequence, the Company
recorded revenue on ordinary activities after tax of £1,220,000, a 16.2% increase compared to the previous
financial year.
Blackfriars Asset Management Limited
Investment Manager
12 June 2018
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Results and dividend
The revenue return for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 after taxation amounted to £1,220,000
(2017: £1,050,000). The Company made a capital loss after tax for the financial year ended 31 March 2018
of £2,437,000 (2017: capital gain of £10,711,000). Therefore the net loss after tax for the Company for the
financial year ended 31 March 2018 was £1,217,000 (2017: profit of £11,761,000).

STRATEGIC REPORT

Other Information

An interim dividend of 3.0p per Ordinary Share was paid on 22 December 2017 to shareholders on the
register at the close of business on 1 December 2017.
The Board proposes the following dividends in respect of the year ended 31 March 2018:
(i) A final dividend of 3.0p (2017: 3.2p) per Ordinary Share.
(ii) A special dividend of 4.3p (2017: 4.3p) per Ordinary Share.
Subject to approval by shareholders, the above dividends will be paid on 13 August 2018 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register at the close of business on 20 July 2018.
Risks and uncertainties
The review of the year and commentary on the future outlook are presented in the Chairman’s Statement
on page 4, the Investment Manager’s Report on pages 9 and 10 and the financial instruments disclosures set
out in note 16 to the Financial Statements on pages 52 to 55, which, together with the information below,
provide details of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company.
Investment risk
The Company is predominantly a vehicle for overseas equity investment with the attendant risks applicable
to any international or regional equity portfolio relating to strategy, country, industrial sector and stock
selection.
The prime risk of investing in the Company is a fall in equity prices and adverse movements in foreign
currency exchange rates as currency movements can have a significant impact on capital values. Whilst
foreign currency exposures against sterling are reviewed on a regular basis, these are inherent in investing
in overseas securities and at present the Company has no currency hedging contracts in place nor plans to
arrange them. The Investment Manager will take into account the possibility of currency gain or loss when
evaluating investments for the Company.
Risk Management
Equity markets are subject to fluctuation and as such investment in equities has inherent risk. The Investment
Manager is experienced and employs its expertise in selecting the stocks in which the Company invests. The
Investment Manager spreads the investment risk over a wide portfolio of investments.
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Other Information continued
Regulatory risk
Breaches of Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act could result in loss of investment trust status. Loss of
investment trust status would lead to the Company being subject to tax on any gains on the disposal of
its investments. Breaches of the FCA’s rules applicable to listed entities could result in financial penalties or
suspension of trading of the Company’s shares on the London Stock Exchange. Breaches of the Companies
Act 2006, The Financial Services and Markets Act, Accounting Standards, The Listing Rules, Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules and Prospectus Rules could result in financial penalties or legal proceedings
against the Company or its Directors. Failure of the Investment Manager to meet its regulatory obligations
could have adverse consequences on the Company.
Risk Management
The Company has contracted out relevant services to appropriately qualified third party professionals. The
Investment Manager reports on regulatory matters to the Board on a quarterly basis. The assessment of
regulatory risks forms part of the Board’s risk assessment programme.
Counterparty risk
The Company bears the risk of settlement default by clearing houses and exchanges and the risk of delayed
repossession or disputed title of the Company’s assets in the event of failure of the Custodian, together with
operational and regulatory risks, and the risk of errors and omissions.
Risk Management
The Investment Manager undertakes transactions only with brokers pre-approved by the Investment
Manager and on the basis of delivery against payment.
Additional risks are set out in note 16 to the Financial Statements on pages 53 and 54, which covers interest
rate risk, equity price risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.
Role of the Board
The Board monitors the critical risks and uncertainties faced by the Company through regular review of a
matrix of risks, key controls and mitigating factors.
As part of the review of operational risks, the Board satisfies itself that the Investment Manager has processes
in place to ensure that limits are not breached. Performance and risk controls are the focus of Boardroom
discussion with the Investment Manager. The Board reviews the management of the portfolio and monitors
the Investment Manager’s adherence to the investment mandate. This is achieved by comparing the absolute
return generated by the portfolio, the breakdown of the portfolio into equities, investment funds, bonds
and cash and the level of concentration within the equity portfolio by sector and geography.
The Board seeks to assess and contain risk by understanding and monitoring the Investment Manager’s
investment style, investment process and long-term performance record. Stock specific risk is reduced
through adequate diversification and the Investment Manager is required to ask the Board for approval
prior to the purchase of any other products managed by the Investment Manager which may not exceed
30% of the portfolio.
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As the Company’s objective is to achieve long-term capital growth whilst preserving capital, performance is
not measured against any specific equity or bond index but on the absolute return achieved. The Company
shows its performance against the FTSE UK Private Investor Balanced Index in the chart on page 3 of the
Annual Report.

STRATEGIC REPORT

The Board reviews the performance of certain equity indices and peer group competitors to evaluate
whether the Investment Manager is generating competitive returns in differing market conditions. In
assessing performance at its regular meetings, the Board requires a clear, consistent expression of strategy.

The Board also discusses the extent to which the Company might gear up its portfolio with debt or increase
liquidity in difficult markets. Strategic decisions, such as the level of borrowing, can have a significant impact
on performance. The Company’s policy is to limit gearing to a maximum of 50% of net assets, although,
at present, the Company has no gearing. Ultimately, the positioning of the portfolio is decided by the
Investment Manager, which operates within the investment guidelines established by the Board.
Viability statement
The Directors have assessed the viability of the Company for the five years until 31 March 2023 (the “Period”).
The Directors believe that the Period is an appropriate period over which to perform the assessment due to
the long term nature of the Company’s investment strategy. The continuation of the Company is subject to
approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2019 and every subsequent three
years. At present, the Directors have no reason to believe that the continuation vote to be proposed at the
AGM to be held in 2019 will not be passed.
In their assessment of the prospects of the Company, the Directors have considered the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Company. Portfolio changes, market developments and income and expense
projections are discussed at quarterly Board meetings. The internal control framework of the Company is
subject to a formal review on at least an annual basis.
The Directors do not expect any material increase in the annual ongoing charges of the Company over the
Period although the cost of increased regulatory and compliance burden is a factor. The Company’s income
from investments and cash realisable from the sale of its investments provide substantial cover for the
Company’s operating expenses.
Based on this assessment, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to
continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the Period.
Key performance indicators (“KPIs”)
The Board measures the success of the Company by reference to the following KPIs:
1. Long term capital growth
The Board monitors the Company’s net asset value on a total return basis. A review of performance is
undertaken at each quarterly Board meeting and the reasons for relative over and under performance
against various comparators is discussed. The net asset value total return from inception on 18 March 2002
to 31 March 2018 was 258.2%. Further details on the Company’s long term performance are provided on
page 3.
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2. Progressive dividend policy
The Company’s total dividends from revenue (excluding the special dividend) for the year ended 31 March
2018 will be 6.0p (2017: 5.7p) per Ordinary Share which is an increase of 5.3% over the previous financial
year and the 15th successive year of increase. In addition, a 4.3p per share special dividend will be paid
making the full year dividend 10.3p, an increase of 3% on last year.
3. Control of expenses
The Board receives monthly management accounts which contain analysis of expenditure and are reviewed
at quarterly Board meetings. The Management Engagement Committee formally reviews the fees payable
to the Company’s main service providers on an annual basis. The Company’s ongoing charges for the year
ended 31 March 2018 were 1.28% of the Company’s average net assets (2017: 1.22%).
Social, community, environmental and human rights issues
Having no employees, the Company, as an investment company, has no direct impact on social, community,
environmental or human rights matters. The Investment Manager takes into account relevant factors when
making investment decisions.
Employees
The Company has no employees. The Company has one female and four male non-executive Directors. The
Board’s policy on diversity is contained in the corporate governance report.
Strategic Report
The Strategic Report comprises the information set out on pages 2 to 14 of this Annual Report and was
approved by the Board of Directors on 12 June 2018.
For and on behalf of the Board

Harry Wells
Chairman
12 June 2018
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Directors’ Report – Statutory Information
The Directors submit their report together with the audited Financial Statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2018.
Strategic Report
The Directors’ Report should be read in conjunction with the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 14 which
contains information on the Company’s results and dividends, risks and uncertainties, key performance
indicators, social issues, employees, events since the year end and possible future developments.
Corporate governance
The Corporate Governance Statement on pages 20 to 24 forms part of this report.

The principal activity of the Company is to carry on the business of an investment trust company. The
Company is an investment company as defined in section 833 of the Companies Act 2006.
The manner in which the Company conducts its affairs meets the requirements for approval as an investment
trust under section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
met the on-going requirements of section 1158 for the year ended 31 March 2018 and intends to continue
to do so.

GOVERNANCE

Activities and status

Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (“AIFMD”)
The Company is classified as an alternative investment fund under AIFMD and the Company has been
entered on the register of small UK AIFMs.
Life of the Company
The Company does not have a fixed life. At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held in July 2016,
shareholders approved an ordinary resolution for the continuation of the Company in its current form. A
similar resolution will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2019 and, if passed, at
the third subsequent Annual General Meeting. If such a resolution is not passed, the Board shall draw up
proposals for the voluntary liquidation, unitisation or other reorganisation of the Company for submission
to the members of the Company within a period of 90 days.
Directors
The Directors of the Company at the date of this Report are shown on page 6. All Directors are non‑executive.
Harry Wells was appointed as a Director in February 2002 and as Chairman on 7 July 2015, Tom Waring was
appointed in May 2008, Gregory Shenkman was appointed in August 2011, Susan Thornton in July 2014
and Jim Ryall in June 2015. All of the Directors at the year end served in office throughout the year under
review.
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Directors’ Report – Statutory Information continued
Substantial shareholdings
The Company had been notified or is aware of the following significant holdings of 3% or more of the
Company’s shares as at 31 March 2018:

Susan Thornton*
The Trustees of RC Thornton Will Trust**
Rysaffe Trustees Company (CI) Limited
(for R C Thornton 1971 settlement)
Miton Worldwide Growth Investment Trust plc
Field Nominees Limited
Charles Stanley & Co Limited
1607 Capital Partners LLC
The Rabbit Trust

Number of
Ordinary
shares

As at
31 March 2018
% of issued
shares

3,550,269
1,805,542

17.75
9.03

1,600,623
1,587,000
1,416,178
1,046,075
951,681
709,975

8.00
7.94
7.08
5.23
4.76
3.55

*	
Susan Thornton has a direct interest in 1,805,541 Ordinary Shares and, in addition, has an interest in 1,744,728 Ordinary
Shares held by the Thornton Foundation of which she is a trustee.
** Susan Thornton is also a trustee of RC Thornton Will Trust.

Since the year end, the Company has been formally notified that the Charles Stanley & Co Limited holding
in the Company has increased to 1,085,966 Ordinary Shares, the Miton Worldwide Growth Investment
Trust plc holding has decreased to 1,385,000 Ordinary Shares and Armstrong Investments Limited has
increased to 925,000 Ordinary Shares.
Investment management
Blackfriars Asset Management Limited (“Blackfriars”) is the Company’s Investment Manager. The Directors
are satisfied that the Investment Manager has suitable skills and experience to manage the Company’s
investments and believe that the continuing appointment of Blackfriars is in the interests of shareholders as
a whole. Blackfriars is regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom.
Further details on the investment management agreement can be found in note 6 to the Financial Statements
on page 47.
Company Secretary and Administrator
PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited has been appointed as the secretary of the Company and is also
responsible for the Company’s administrative matters.
Share capital
At 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018, the authorised share capital was £7,500,000 divided into 30,000,000
Ordinary Shares of 25p each, of which 20,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 25p each were issued and fully paid.
There were no changes to the capital structure during the financial year or between 31 March 2018 and the
date of this report. At 31 March 2018 the Ordinary Share price was 208.0p (2017: 200.3p).
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The following sets out the respective rights and obligations attaching to the Ordinary Shares of the Company:
Voting
The Ordinary Shares confer the right to receive notice and to attend and vote at any General Meeting of
the Company. Each Ordinary Share carries the right to one vote. There are no restrictions on voting rights.
The deadline for the valid exercise of voting rights is set out in the notes to the Notice of Annual General
Meeting and in the Proxy Form.
Dividends
Any dividend declared by the Directors shall be paid at the same rate on each Ordinary Share of the Company.
Transfers

Winding up
The assets of the Company shall on a winding up be divided amongst the shareholders on the basis as
determined by the Liquidator, with the sanction of a resolution of the shareholders. The Company is not
aware of any agreements with or between shareholders restricting the transfer of Ordinary Shares, or which
would take effect in the event of a change of control of the Company.

GOVERNANCE

There are no restrictions on the transfers of Ordinary Shares in the Company and no limitations on the
holding of Ordinary Shares or requirements to obtain the approval of the Company, or other shareholders
for any transfer.

Non-mainstream pooled investments (“NMPIs”)
FCA rules determine which investment products can be promoted to ordinary retail investors. As a result of
these rules, certain investment products are classified as NMPIs. There are restrictions on their promotion to
retail investors.
The Company conducts its affairs so that its shares can be recommended by Independent Financial Advisers
to ordinary retail investors in accordance with the FCA’s rules in relation to NMPIs. The Company intends to
continue to do so for the foreseeable future.
The Company’s shares are excluded from the FCA’s restrictions applying to non-mainstream investment
products because the Company has investment trust status.
Environmental matters
No greenhouse gas emissions result from the Company’s operations, nor does it have responsibility for any
other emission producing sources under the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ Reports)
Regulations 2013.
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Directors’ Report – Statutory Information continued
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report, the Directors’
Remuneration Report and Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and
Implementation Reports and the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year. In conformity
with the law, the Directors have elected to prepare Financial Statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under
company law, the Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the net return of the Company for
that period. In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors are required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•	
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements;
•	prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the Company will continue in business; and
•

in compliance with the Companies Act 2006, prepare a Directors’ Report, a Strategic Report and
a Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records, sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable the Directors to ensure that the Financial Statements and Directors’ Remuneration
Report comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
The Financial Statements are published on www.blackfriarsam.com, which is a website maintained by
the Company’s Investment Manager. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the Company’s information that is available on the website. The Directors do not take responsibility for
the maintenance of the Investment Manager’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of the Financial Statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Directors’ confirmation statement
Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed on page 6, confirms that, to the best of the
knowledge of that Director:
•	the Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and net return of the Company; and
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•	the Annual Report, including the Strategic Report, includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Company, together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.
Having taken advice from the Audit and Risk Committee, the Directors consider that the Annual Report
and Financial Statements taken as a whole are fair, balanced and understandable and provide information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and performance, business model and strategy.
Going Concern

Disclosure of information to the Auditor
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of the Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s Auditor is unaware; and each Director
has taken all of the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director to make himself or herself aware
of any relevant audit information and establish that the Company’s Auditor is aware of that information.

GOVERNANCE

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The great majority of the net
assets of the Company are securities which are traded on recognised stock exchanges. After considering
the Company’s current financial resources, the Directors are satisfied that its resources are adequate for
continuing in business for the foreseeable future. This going concern summary should be read in conjunction
with the Viability Statement on page 13.

Auditor
On 6 July 2017, a resolution was passed to appoint BDO LLP as auditors to the Company. A resolution will
be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to re-appoint BDO LLP as Independent Auditor
and to authorise the Directors to determine the Auditor’s remuneration.

By order of the Board
Anthony Lee
For and on behalf of
PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited
Company Secretary
12 June 2018
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Directors’ Report – Corporate Governance Statement
The Listing Rules and the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules (“Disclosure Rules”) of the UK Listing
Authority require listed companies to disclose how they have applied the principles and complied with
the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (“the Code”), as issued by the Financial Reporting
Council (“FRC”). The provisions of the Code issued by the FRC in April 2016 are applicable to the year under
review. The Code can be viewed at www.frc.org.uk.
The related Association of Investment Companies (“AIC”) Corporate Governance Guide for Investment
Companies (“the AIC Code”) published by the AIC in February 2015 provides specific corporate governance
guidelines to investment trusts. The FRC has confirmed that AIC member companies who follow and
report in conformity with the AIC Code will be meeting their obligations in relation to the UK Corporate
Governance Code. The AIC Code can be viewed at www.theaic.co.uk.
Compliance
The Board supports the standards of corporate governance set out in the AIC Code and, throughout the
year ended 31 March 2018, the Company complied with the provisions of the AIC Code, except when, as
explained below, the Company has not complied or does not feel it appropriate for a company of its size
to do so. It should be noted that, as an investment trust, all the Directors are non-executive and all of the
Company’s day to day responsibilities are delegated to third parties.
The Board of Directors
At 31 March 2018 the Board consisted of five members, three of whom were considered to be independent.
Particulars of the Directors are set out on page 6. Gregory Shenkman is the current Senior Independent
Director and is available to shareholders if they feel that contact through the Chairman is inappropriate or
the Chairman is not available.
The Directors normally meet as a Board on a quarterly basis. The Audit and Risk Committee meets at least
twice each year. The Management Engagement Committee meets at least once a year and the Nominations
and Remuneration Committees meet as and when required.
The actual number of formal meetings of the Board and Committees during the year under review is given
below, together with each individual Director’s attendance at those meetings. The first number in the table
is for the meetings attended by the individual Director and the second number is for the number of meetings
that Director was eligible to attend. There were also a number of other ad hoc meetings during the year.

Quarterly
Board
4

Number held

Harry Wells
Jim Ryall
Gregory Shenkman
Susan Thornton
Tom Waring

Nominations
Committee
1

Audit
Committee
2

Management
Engagement
Committee
1

1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1

2/2
2/2
2/2
n/a
n/a

1/1
1/1
1/1
n/a
n/a

4/4
4/4
4/4
3/4*
4/4

n/a = not applicable – not eligible to attend.
* Mrs Thornton was unable to attend a meeting through illness.

The Board also held two committee meetings to deal with approval of documents.
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The Board sets out guidelines within which the Investment Manager implements the investment policy
and has a schedule of matters reserved for consideration by the Directors. A full report on the investment
holdings and performance is received from the Investment Manager and discussed at Board meetings.
The Investment Manager also reports regularly to the Board on the Company’s financial position.
All Board members have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, which is responsible to
the Board for ensuring its compliance with Board procedures, company law and other relevant matters. The
appointment or replacement of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole. The Directors
are authorised to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense.

Board structure
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman, the Board, the Investment Manager and
other third party service providers. No single Director has unfettered power of decision. The Chairman is
responsible for leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness on all aspects of its role, setting the agenda
and ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The Board decides matters
concerning the Company’s investment objective, gearing, capital structure, governance, the appointment
of service providers and liaison with shareholders. It is the sole responsibility of the Investment Manager
to take decisions on the purchase and sale of individual investments. Representatives of the Investment
Manager and the Company Secretary attend each Board meeting. The Board, the Investment Manager
and the Company Secretary operate in a mutually supportive and co-operative manner in so far as their
responsibilities permit.

GOVERNANCE

All of the Directors are able to allocate sufficient time to the Company to discharge their responsibilities
effectively. Upon joining the Board, any new Directors receive an induction and relevant training is available
to Directors on an ongoing basis.

Board independence
The Board recognises that its prime purpose is to direct the business to maximise shareholder value within
a framework of proper controls. The majority of the Board is independent. As stated above, Tom Waring is
also a Director of the Investment Manager and as such is not considered to be independent. Susan Thornton
represents a significant shareholder and as such is not considered by the Board to be independent under
the AIC Code. However, in the opinion of the other Directors, Mr Waring and Mrs Thornton act strongly
in the interests of the Company and refrain from voting on any matters where there is a possible or actual
conflict of interest. Although Mr Wells has been a Director since the Company’s launch he is considered to
be independent by the Board of Directors.
Board diversity
The Company’s policy is that the Board should have a broad range of skills. Due consideration is given to
industry guidance on boardroom diversity.
Evaluation of the performance of the Board
The Board has recently conducted its annual evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Committees,
individual Directors and third party service providers. A review of the Chairman’s performance was conducted by
the Senior Independent Director, Gregory Shenkman. As part of the evaluation process the individual Directors
completed evaluation programmes and the results were discussed by the Board. The Board is satisfied, from
the results of the evaluation, that the Chairman, the other Directors, the Board Committees and third party
service providers function effectively, collectively and individually, and that the Board contains an appropriate
balance of skills and experience to supervise management of the Company in an effective manner.
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Directors’ Report – Corporate Governance Statement continued
Election and re-election of Directors
The biographies of the Directors are set out on page 6 of this Report.
Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association at least one third of the Directors will retire from office at
each Annual General Meeting. If any Director has at the start of the Annual General Meeting been in office
for more than three years since his or her last appointment or reappointment he or she will retire. A retiring
Director is eligible for re-election.
The following Directors will retire and being eligible offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting:
•	Tom Waring because of his connection with the Investment Manager is required by the Listing Rules to
retire annually at each AGM.
•	Harry Wells in accordance with Principle 3 of the AIC Code which recommends that Directors who have
served for more than nine years to retire annually at each AGM.
•

Jim Ryall and Susan Thornton, who retire having been last re-elected at the AGM held in 2015.

The Board acknowledges the AIC’s Code provisions relating to Directors’ tenure. Directors serving longer
than nine years will be subject to annual re-election. The Board does not, however, have a pre-set criterion
for retirement based on length of service believing that recommendation for re-election should be on an
individual basis following rigorous review. The Directors do not consider longevity of service as an impairment
to independence or judgement but were this to become the case, the relevant Director would stand down.
The Board greatly values the experience and contribution provided by the Directors standing for re-election
and fully supports the proposal that these Directors be re-elected or elected.
The Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee comprises the whole Board and considers appointments to the Board. The
Directors have between them many years’ collective experience within the financial services industry and a
broad knowledge of individuals, who would have the necessary skills to promote and develop the Company.
Accordingly, the Nominations Committee does not consider it necessary to engage the services of third
party search consultants unless no such suitably skilled individuals can be identified by the members of the
Committee.
Remuneration
Under the Listing Rules, where an investment trust company has no executive directors, the UK Corporate
Governance Code’s provisions relating to directors’ remuneration do not apply. Details of the Directors’ fees
are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report on pages 29 and 30.
D&O Insurance
The Company arranges appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance cover in respect of legal action
against the Directors and Officers.
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Audit and Risk Committee
A report on page 25 provides details of the role, composition and meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee
together with a description of the work of the Audit and Risk Committee in discharging its responsibilities.

Management Engagement Committee
Mr Wells is Chairman of the Management Engagement Committee.

GOVERNANCE

Since the Company’s investment management, accounting and custodial activities are carried out by
third party service providers, the Board does not consider it necessary to have a separate internal audit
function. As the Company has no employees it also does not consider there is a need for its own ‘whistle
blowing’ procedures. The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the ‘whistle blowing’ procedures of
the Investment Manager. It satisfies itself about the effectiveness of internal controls by requiring service
providers to report and give assurance on their controls to the Audit and Risk Committee. Although the
Directors can thereby provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss, they acknowledge
that risk cannot be eliminated altogether. Their approach to managing internal control and risk conforms
to the recommendations of the Financial Reporting Council’s “Risk Management, Internal Control and
Related Financial Business Reporting” guidance. The Board confirms that in this manner it has reviewed the
effectiveness of internal controls for the period under review, taking into account matters arising up to the
date of the Report.

At the year end, the Management Engagement Committee comprised Gregory Shenkman, Jim Ryall
and Harry Wells. The Management Engagement Committee considers the terms of engagement and the
remuneration payable to the Investment Manager and other third party service providers to the Company,
(see note 6 to the Financial Statements).
Internal Control
There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing those risks which are significant for
the Company. This process has been in place for the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, and is regularly reviewed by the Board. A formal review, utilising a detailed risk assessment
programme, takes place at least annually.
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.
An independent custodian has responsibility for safeguarding the Company’s assets and there are clearly
defined responsibilities between the Board, the Custodian, the Investment Manager and the Administrator,
with detailed operating procedures in place. The internal controls operated by the Board include the
authorisation of the investment strategy and regular reviews of investment performance and financial
results. The system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of being unable to meet business
objectives and can provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatements or
loss, as explained in the FRC’s guidance. The Board has monitored the operation and effectiveness of the
Company’s system of internal controls during the period through its ongoing identification, assessment and
management of the Company’s key risks. The Company’s risk matrix is reviewed at least annually by the
Audit and Risk Committee.
The Board has contractually delegated the management of the investment portfolio to Blackfriars Asset
Management Limited, the day-to-day administration and company secretarial functions to PraxisIFM Fund
Services (UK) Limited, and the custodial services, which include the safeguarding of the Company’s assets,
to The Northern Trust Company. These contracts were entered into after full consideration by the Board
of the services undertaken. The Investment Manager has established an internal control framework to
provide reasonable assurance on the effectiveness of internal controls operated on behalf of its clients. The
Investment Manager’s compliance department assesses and reports to the Board on the effectiveness of the
internal controls and the business risk exposure of the Investment Manager.
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Directors’ Report – Corporate Governance Statement continued
The Investment Manager, Administrator and the Custodian of the Company’s assets all maintain their own
systems of internal and financial controls which are reviewed annually by the Audit and Risk Committee.
The Directors confirm that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the
Company, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity.
The principal risks and how they are being managed is set out in the Strategic Report.
Shareholder Relations
The Company, through the Investment Manager, has regular contact with its institutional shareholders
and the views of shareholders are communicated to the Board. The Board supports the principle that
the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of shareholders provides a constructive opportunity to facilitate
communication with the Company’s investors, and the Board encourages shareholders to attend and
participate in the AGM.
Voting Policy
The Investment Manager researches the companies and markets in which the Company invests and
accordingly the Board considers the Investment Manager to be best placed to vote the shares of invested
companies where such rights exist. The Board has therefore authorised the Investment Manager to vote the
shares of invested companies on routine business, having regard to both the Investment Manager’s interests
and those of the Company. The Investment Manager, however, is required to consult with the Chairman, or
with the Board, if appropriate, before voting on any contentious or sensitive issues. The Board has reviewed
the Investment Manager’s policy on compliance with the UK Stewardship Code.
Commissions
The Board reviews the details of dealing commissions paid.
Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’)
The AGM of the Company will be held on 12 July 2018 at 12 noon. All shareholders are encouraged to
attend. The business of the meeting is set out in the Notice of AGM on page 58.
Details of proxy voting in respect of each resolution will be available at the meeting and subsequently on
the website at www.blackfriarsam.com. It is not proposed to state individual proxy voting figures at the
Meeting after each resolution is voted on, and those attending will instead be provided with a summary of
the voting on all resolutions.
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee
Role, composition and meetings
The Company’s Audit and Risk Committee comprises Gregory Shenkman (Chairman), Harry Wells and
Jim Ryall.

GOVERNANCE

All members of the Committee are independent and have considerable experience of the investment
industry, which the Board considers relevant to their roles on the Committee. The Committee meets at
least twice each year with representatives of the Investment Manager, who report on the proper conduct of
the Investment Manager’s business and internal controls in accordance with the regulatory environment in
which both the Company and the Investment Manager operate. Minutes of meetings are formally recorded
and reported to the Board by the Audit and Risk Committee Chairman. The Company’s external Auditor also
attends Committee meetings at least once a year and reports on the Auditor’s work procedures, the quality
and effectiveness of the Company’s accounting procedures and its findings in relation to the Company’s
statutory audit. The responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee include the review of internal controls
and risk matrix, accounting policies, Financial Statements, the Auditor’s appointment, independence and
remuneration and the carrying value of any unquoted investments. The Audit and Risk Committee also
agrees any non-audit work carried out by the Auditor and the fees payable for such work.
Attendance at the Audit and Risk Committee meetings during the year is set out on page 20.
Provision of non-audit services
The Audit and Risk Committee and the Board consider the nature and terms of any non-audit work
undertaken by the Auditor. The Company’s Auditor, BDO LLP, did not perform any non-audit work for the
Company during the year. As detailed later in this report, subject to approval at the Company’s Annual
General Meeting, BDO LLP will be appointed as the Company’s external Auditor for the year ending
31 March 2019. Grant Thornton UK LLP has been selected to provide UK tax compliance services to the
Company as these services may not be provided by an appointed external Auditor.
Financial Statements and significant accounting matters
The Audit and Risk Committee considered the following significant accounting issues in relation to the
Company’s Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018.
Valuation of investments
Over 95% of the Company’s assets are quoted investments. The valuation of these investments is a material
matter in the production of the Financial Statements. The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the procedures
in place for ensuring accurate valuation of investments and discussed the valuation of the Company’s
investments at Board meetings and at the year end with the Investment Manager and the Secretary. The
Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the valuations adopted at the year end are appropriate.
Income
The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the procedures in place for income recognition and discussed those
procedures with the Investment Manager and the Administrator. The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied
that appropriate procedures are in place for income recognition.

Page 25

Job No: 34941

Proof Event: 12

Customer: PraxisIFM

Project Title: Establishment Investment Trust Annual Report 2018

Black Line Level: 2

Park Communications Ltd

Alpine Way London E6 6LA

T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

The Establishment Investment Trust plc

Annual Report 31 March 2018

Report of the Audit and Risk Committee continued
Tax status
The Company may suffer tax on gains on the realisation of investments if investment trust status is not
maintained. The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the compliance of the Company during the year with
the eligibility conditions and ongoing requirements, which enable investment trust status to be maintained.
Audit tenure
In line with good corporate governance, the Audit and Risk Committee conducted an audit tender for the
audit for the year ending 31 March 2018. The appointment of BDO LLP was approved by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting held on 6 July 2017. The appointment of the external Auditor is reviewed annually
by the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board and is subject to approval by shareholders.
Effectiveness of external audit
The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process.
The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the external Auditor’s audit plan prior to the commencement of the
audit and received a presentation of the results of the audit following completion of the main audit testing.
The Audit and Risk Committee performed a review of the external Auditor following the presentation of
the results of the audit. The review included a discussion of the audit process and the ability of the external
Auditor. The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the audit for the year ended 31 March 2018 has
been performed effectively.
The Board has accepted the Audit and Risk Committee’s recommendation that a proposal to re-appoint
BDO LLP, as independent Auditor be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Gregory Shenkman
Audit and Risk Committee Chairman
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy
Introduction
This policy provides details of the remuneration for the Directors of the Company (the “Remuneration
Policy”). This Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders at the AGM held on 6 July 2017. The
provisions set out in this policy will apply until they are next put forward for shareholder approval at the AGM
to be held in July 2020. The Company’s Remuneration Policy must be put forward for shareholder approval
at least every three years. In the event of any proposed significant variation to the policy, shareholder
approval will be sought for the proposed new policy prior to its implementation.
All the Directors are non-executive Directors and the Company has no employees.
Directors’ Service Contracts
GOVERNANCE

It is the Board’s policy that none of the Directors has a service contract. The terms of their appointment
provide that a Director shall retire and be subject to election at the first Annual General Meeting after their
appointment and the Company’s Articles of Association require re-election every three years after that. The
terms also provide that a Director may be removed without notice and that compensation will not be due
on leaving office.
Fees
The remuneration of non-executive Directors should reflect the experience of the Board as a whole, be fair
and comparable to that of other investment trusts that are similar in size, have a similar capital structure
and a similar investment objective.
The maximum aggregate Directors’ fees pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association are £150,000
per financial year. The remuneration terms are reviewed annually by the independent Directors. No Director
may vote on his or her own remuneration. Directors are not eligible for pension entitlements, share options,
long-term incentive schemes or other benefits.
The Directors shall also be entitled to be reimbursed for all expenses incurred in performance of their duties.
These expenses are unlikely to be significant.
Fees are payable from the date of appointment as a Director of the Company and cease on date of
termination of appointment. The Directors are not entitled to compensation for loss of office.
The Board does not pay any incentive fees to any person to encourage them to become a Director of the
Company. The Board may, however, pay fees to external agencies to assist the Board in the search for and
selection of Directors.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy continued
Current and future policy
Component

Applicable to:

Current annual rate1

Purpose of reward

Operation

Annual fee

Chairman

See note 1 below

Chairman of a plc

Annual fee

Chairman of the
Audit and Risk
Committee

See note 1 below

Annual fee

Other Directors

See note 1 below

Expenses

All Directors

Not applicable

Services as nonexecutive Director
plus additional
responsibilities
Services as nonexecutive Director
Reimbursement of
expenses incurred in
the performance of
duties

Subject to Board
determination
Subject to Board
determination

1

Subject to Board
determination
Submission of
appropriate
supporting
documentation

Annual rates are at the discretion of the Board subject to aggregate maximum payable to all Directors of £150,000.

Statement of consideration of conditions elsewhere in the Company
The Company only has non-executive Directors. The Company has no employees. Therefore the process of
consulting with employees on the setting of the Remuneration Policy is not applicable.
Review of the Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy will be reviewed on an annual basis by the Remuneration Committee and any
material changes are subject to approval by Shareholders. The remuneration payable to the Directors will
take into account a number of factors, inter alia, the experience of the Directors, the complexity of the
Company and prevailing market rates for the investment trust sector.
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Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report
Introduction
The Company has prepared this report, in accordance with the requirements of the Large and Medium-sized
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013.
The Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report will be put forward for approval by shareholders on
an annual basis. The result of the shareholder resolution on the Implementation Report is non-binding on
the Company, although it gives shareholders an opportunity to express their views, which will be taken into
account by the Board.
The regulations require the company’s external Auditor to audit certain of the disclosures provided herein.
Where disclosures have been audited, they are indicated as such. The Auditor’s opinion on these disclosures
is included in the report of the Independent Auditor on pages 32 to 38.

All Directors are non-executive and the Board as a whole fulfils the function of a Remuneration Committee.
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the fees payable to the Directors were: £22,000 to the Chairman,
£19,250 to the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee and £16,500 to the other Directors.

GOVERNANCE

Remuneration Committee

Following the year end, a review of Directors’ remuneration has been performed. Directors’ fees were last
increased from 1 April 2017. The Board has concluded that despite the increased regulatory and compliance
burden, there will be no increase in fees in the current financial year.
Performance Graph
The following chart compares the Company’s share price total return to the FTSE UK Private Investor
Balanced Index.
Share Price performance relative to the FTSE UK Private Investor Balanced Index
(31 March 2009 to 31 March 2018)
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Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report continued
Directors’ emoluments and benefits for the year ended 31 March 2018 (audited)

Harry Wells (Chairman)
Gregory Shenkman (Chairman of the
Audit and Risk Committee)
Susan Thornton
Tom Waring(a)
James Ryall
Total

Fees
2018
£

Taxable
benefits
2018
£

Fees
2017
£

Taxable
benefits
2017
£

22,000

–

20,000

–

19,250
16,500
–
16,500
74,250

–
–
–
–
–

17,500
15,000
–
15,000
67,500

–
–
–
–
–

(a) 	Tom Waring is a director of Blackfriars Asset Management Limited (“Blackfriars”), the Investment Manager to the
Company. Due to his connection with Blackfriars, he has waived his entitlement to Directors’ fees.

The fee rates for the year ended 31 March 2018 were set out in the Annual Report for the year ended
31 March 2017. A non-binding ordinary resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation
Report contained in the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2017 was put forward at the Annual
General Meeting held on 6 July 2017. The resolution was passed with proxies representing 100% of the
shares voted being in favour of the resolution.
An ordinary resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy was last put forward at the Annual
General Meeting held on 6 July 2017. The resolution was passed with proxies representing 100% of the
shares voted being in favour of the resolution.
Other than the Directors’ fees, there were no other taxable benefits payable to the Directors.
Relative importance of spend on pay
The following table sets out the total level of Directors’ remuneration compared to the distributions to
shareholders by way of dividends, and the management fees and other expenses incurred by the Company.
No buy backs of the Company’s own shares were performed during the year (2017: £nil).

Spend on Directors’ fees
Management fees and other expenses
Dividends paid to shareholders

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

74
709
2,100

68
584
1,920

The information in the table above is required by the regulations in the Large and Medium sized Companies
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 with the exception of management
fees and other expenses which have been included to show the total operating expenses of the Company.
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Directors’ interests (audited)
The interests of the Directors in the Ordinary Shares of the Company on the dates shown were as follows:
Ordinary Shares of 25p each

Gregory Shenkman
Susan Thornton(a)
Tom Waring
Harry Wells(b)
Jim Ryall

31 March 2018

31 March 2017

3,415
3,550,269
3,891
30,000
–

3,415
1,744,728
–
30,000
–

No changes in the above interests have been notified to the Company between 31 March 2018 and the
date of this Report.
There is no requirement for the Directors to own the Ordinary Shares of the Company.

GOVERNANCE

(a) 	Susan Thornton has a direct interest in 1,805,541 Ordinary Shares and, in addition, has an interest in 1,744,728 Ordinary
Shares, held as a Trustee of The Thornton Foundation. Susan Thornton is a trustee of RC Thornton Will Trust, which holds
an interest in 1,805,542 Ordinary Shares in the Company.
(b) Held in SIPP.

Disclosure of interests
Tom Waring is a director of the Investment Manager, Blackfriars Asset Management Limited, which receives
fees under the terms of the Investment Management Agreement as set out in note 6 to the Financial
Statements.
All of the Directors are non-executive and no Director has at any time during the accounting period had a
contract of service with the Company. Save as disclosed above and in note 6 to the Financial Statements, no
Director was a party to, or had an interest in any contract or arrangement with the Company.
Annual statement
In accordance with Part 2 of Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013, the Board confirms that the Directors’ Remuneration
Implementation Report and Policy Report summarises, as applicable, for the year to 31 March 2018:
(a) the major decisions on Directors’ remuneration;
(b) any substantial changes relating to Directors’ remuneration made during the year; and
(c) the context in which the changes occurred and decisions have been taken.
By order of the Board

Harry Wells
Chairman
12 June 2018
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of The Establishment
Investment Trust plc
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Establishment Investment Trust plc (the ‘Company’) for the year
ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the Income Statement, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of
Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and Notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102,
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion the Financial Statements:
•	give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of its return for
the year then ended;
•

 ave been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
h
Practice; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Statements in the UK, including
the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to principal risks, going concern and viability statement
We have nothing to report in respect of the following information in the Annual Report, in relation to which
the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you whether we have anything material to add or draw attention to:
•	the Strategic Report set out on pages 2 to 14 that describes the principal risks and explains how they
are being managed or mitigated;
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•	the Directors’ confirmation set out on page 24 in the annual report that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Company, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity;
•	the Directors’ statement set out on page 45 in the Financial Statements about whether the directors
considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the Financial
Statements and the Directors’ identification of any material uncertainties to the Company’s ability to
continue to do so over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the Financial
Statements;
•	whether the Directors’ Statement relating to going concern required under the Listing Rules in accordance
with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit; or
•	the Directors’ explanation set out on page 13 in the annual report as to how they have assessed the
prospects of the Company, over what period they have done so and why they consider that period
to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the
Company will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of
their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or
assumptions.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the Financial Statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the Financial Statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
FINANCIALS
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of The Establishment
Investment Trust plc continued
Key audit matter

Audit Response

Valuation and ownership of investments:
(Note 1(b) page 43 and Note 10 on page 50):

We responded to this matter by testing the
valuation and ownership of 100% of the portfolio
of investments. We performed the following
procedures:

Investments represent the most significant balance
in the Financial Statements, there is a potential
risk that the Company has not appropriate
confirmation of title over investments.
The Investment Manager is responsible for
preparing the valuation of investments which
are reviewed and approved by the Board.
Notwithstanding this review, there is a potential
risk of misstatement in the investment valuations.

In respect of quoted investment valuations
(98.8% of the total portfolio) we have:
•	Confirmed the year-end bid price was used by
agreeing to externally quoted prices.
•	Confirmed the investment holdings
to independently received third party
confirmations.
•	Obtained direct confirmation from the
custodian regarding all investments held at
the balance sheet date.
Where bid price was not used (1.2% of the
portfolio), we considered the appropriateness
of an alternative basis. We challenged the
Investment Manager and the Board in respect of
the judgement made regarding an appropriate
provision to apply against the last traded price
based on available independent information.

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the
effect of misstatements. We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including
omissions, could influence the economic decisions of reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the
Financial Statements. In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements
exceed materiality we use a lower materiality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of
testing needed. Importantly, misstatements below these levels will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial
as we also take account of the nature of identified misstatements, and the particular circumstances of
their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the Financial Statements. The application of these key
considerations gives rise to two levels of materiality, the quantum and purpose of which are tabulated
below.
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Materiality
measure
Financial Statement
materiality. (1% of
net assets)

Purpose
Assessing whether the
Financial Statements as a
whole present a true and fair
view.

The Establishment Investment Trust plc

Key considerations and
benchmarks

Quantum
(£)

The value of net investments

£490,000

The level of judgement
inherent in the valuation
The range of reasonable
alternative valuations

Performance
materiality

Specific materiality
– classes of
transactions and
balances which
impact on revenue
return. (10%
revenue return
before tax)

Lower level of materiality
applied in performance of the
audit when determining the
nature and extent of testing
applied to individual balances
and classes of transactions.

Financial statement materiality

Assessing those classes
of transactions, balances
or disclosures for which
misstatements of lesser
amounts than materiality for
the Financial Statements as
a whole could reasonably be
expected to influence the
economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the
Financial Statements.

Level of revenue return before
tax

£350,000

Risk and control environment
History of prior errors (if any)

£130,000

An overview of the scope of our audit
We carried out a full scope audit of the Company. Our audit approach was developed by obtaining an
understanding of the Company’s activities, the key functions undertaken on behalf of the Board by the
Investment Manager and Administrator and, the overall control environment. Based on this understanding
we assessed those aspects of the Company’s transactions and balances which were most likely to give rise
to a material misstatement.

FINANCIALS

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess
of £6,000, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative
grounds.

Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the Financial Statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of The Establishment
Investment Trust plc continued
In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information,
in respect of the Strategic Report and Directors’ Reports and Governance Reports included on pages 2 to
33 and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial
Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the Financial Statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
In this context, we also have nothing to report in regard to our responsibility to specifically address the
following items in the other information and to report as uncorrected material misstatements of the other
information where we conclude that those items meet the following conditions:
•	
Fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 19 – the statement given by the Directors
that they consider the annual report and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s
performance, business model and strategy, is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in
the audit; or
•	
Audit committee reporting set out on page 25 – the section describing the work of the audit
committee does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the audit committee; or
•

 irectors’ statement of compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code set out on page 20
D
– the parts of the Directors’ Statement required under the Listing Rules relating to the Company’s
compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code containing provisions specified for review by the
auditor in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.10R(2) do not properly disclose a departure from a relevant
provision of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•	the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the Financial Statements;
•	the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’
Report.
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We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•	adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
•	the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
•	certain disclosures of Directors’ Remuneration specified by law are not made; or
•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 18, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the Financial Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the Financial Statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

FINANCIALS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor’s report.
Other matters which we are required to address
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the Company on 6 July 2017
to audit the financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2018 and subsequent financial periods.
The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Company and we
remain independent of the Company in conducting our audit.
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of The Establishment
Investment Trust plc continued
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Peter Smith (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
London
United Kingdom
12 June 2018
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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Income Statement
For the year ended 31 March
2018
Revenue
Notes
£’000

(Losses)/gains on investments
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains
Income
Investment management fees
Other expenses
Return before tax
Taxation for the year
Return for the financial year
Return per Ordinary Share

10
2
3
4
7
9

Capital
£’000

–
(1,854)
–
(267)
1,731
–
(72)
(290)
(321)
(26)
1,338
(2,437)
(118)
–
1,220
(2,437)
6.10p (12.19)p

2017
Total
£’000

(1,854)
(267)
1,731
(362)
(347)
(1,099)
(118)
(1,217)
(6.09)p

Revenue
£’000

–
–
1,442
(60)
(282)
1,100
(50)
1,050
5.25p

Capital
£’000

10,358
595
–
(242)
–
10,711
–
10,711
53.56p

Total
£’000

10,358
595
1,442
(302)
(282)
11,811
(50)
11,761
58.81p

All revenue and capital items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.
The total columns in this statement represent the Income Statement of the Company. The revenue and
capital columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under the guidance published by the Association
of Investment Companies.
As all the gains and losses of the Company have been reflected in the above statement, the return for the
financial year is also the total comprehensive income for the year.

FINANCIALS

The notes on pages 43 to 55 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March
Notes

Fixed assets
Investments held at fair value through profit
or loss
Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank
Payables: amounts falling due within
one year

£’000

£’000

47,130

10
136
2,118
2,254

813
3,183
3,996

12

(69)

(1,441)

13

Capital reserve
Revenue reserve
Equity shareholders’ funds

14

Net asset value per Ordinary Share

15

2017
£’000

50,077

11

Net current assets
Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium

2018
£’000

2,185
49,315

2,555
52,632

5,000
14,701
19,701
28,730
884
49,315

5,000
14,701
19,701
32,027
904
52,632

246.58p

263.16p

The Financial Statements on pages 39 to 55 were approved by the Board on 12 June 2018 and were signed
on its behalf by:

Harry Wells
Chairman
Registered in England No. 4355437

The notes on pages 43 to 55 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Note

At 31 March 2017
Return for the financial year
Dividends paid
At 31 March 2018

8

Capital
reserve
£’000

Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium
£’000

5,000
–
–
5,000

14,701
–
–
14,701

32,027
(2,437)
(860)
28,730

Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium
£’000

Capital
reserve
£’000

5,000
–
–
5,000

14,701
–
–
14,701

22,096
10,711
(780)
32,027

Revenue
reserve
£’000

904
1,220
(1,240)
884

Total
£’000

52,632
(1,217)
(2,100)
49,315

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Note

At 31 March 2016
Return for the financial year
Dividends paid
At 31 March 2017

8

Revenue
reserve
£’000

994
1,050
(1,140)
904

Total
£’000

42,791
11,761
(1,920)
52,632

FINANCIALS

The notes on pages 43 to 55 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March
Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Return for the financial year*
Adjustments for:
Taxation
Losses/(gains) on investments held at fair value
Losses/(gains) on exchange movements
Research costs**
Decrease in trade debtors
(Decrease)/increase in trade creditors
Cash from operations
Taxation
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments
Sale of investments
Net cash generated from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Equity dividends paid
Net cash used for financing activities

8

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Foreign exchange movements
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

(1,217)

11,761

118
1,880
267
(26)
43
(29)
1,036
(118)
918

50
(10,358)
(595)
–
36
11
905
(50)
855

(21,449)
21,833
384

(17,263)
18,992
1,729

(2,100)
(2,100)

(1,920)
(1,920)

(798)
(267)
3,183
2,118

664
595
1,924
3,183

* Cash inflow from dividends was £1,756,000.
** See notes 4 and 6.

The notes on pages 43 to 55 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Accounting policies
The Company is incorporated in England and is an investment company within the meaning of Section
833 of the Companies Act 2006. The Company’s registered office is Mermaid House, 2 Puddle Dock,
London, EC4V 3DB.
A summary of the principal accounting policies, all of which have been applied consistently throughout
the year, is set out below:
(a) Basis of accounting
The accounts are prepared on the historical cost basis of accounting, except for the measurement at
fair value of investments. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom accounting practices, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 – ‘The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland’ (‘FRS 102’) and with the
AIC Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies and
Venture Capital Trusts’ issued in November 2014.
All of the Company’s operations are of a continuing nature.
(b) Valuation of investments
When a purchase or sale is made under a contract, the terms of which require delivery within the time
frame of the relevant market, the investments concerned are recognised or derecognised on the trade date.
The Company’s investments are recognised on the trade date and are initially measured at fair value.
Investments are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value, and changes in fair value are
included in the Income Statement as a capital item. For listed investments, fair value is deemed to be
either the bid price or the last traded price, depending on the convention of the exchange on which the
investment is quoted.

Unquoted investments are valued by the Directors at fair value. The Company held no unquoted
investments at the year end.

FINANCIALS

Any investments which are suspended from trading are measured by the Directors at estimated fair
value, taking into account the relevant circumstances.

The Company held all its investments as part of the investment portfolio and measured at fair value.
(c) Reporting currency
The accounts are presented in GBP sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company. Sterling is
the reference currency for this UK registered and listed company.
(d) Income
Dividends are credited to the revenue account on an ex-dividend basis or, if later, as soon as entitlement
has been established. The Company owns no fixed interest investments.
Bank and deposit interest is accounted for on an accruals basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
1. Accounting policies continued
(e) Dividends
Dividends paid by the Company are accounted for in the Financial Statements in respect of the period
in which they are paid, in the case of interim dividends, or when they are approved by shareholders for
final dividends.
(f) Expenses
All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. Expenses are recognised through the Income
Statement as revenue items except as follows:
– 	the investment management fee has been allocated 80% to capital reserve and 20% to the revenue
account within the Income Statement reflecting the Board’s expected long-term split of returns in
the form of capital gains and income respectively from the investment portfolio;
– 	expenses which are incidental to the sale of an investment are deducted from the proceeds of the
sale of that investment;
– 	any other expenses incurred in connection with the acquisition or disposal of an investment,
including research costs, are allocated to capital reserve – through the Income Statement; and
– 	finance costs are accounted for on an accruals basis using the effective interest method.
(g) Taxation
Irrecoverable withholding tax on overseas dividends is recognised on an accruals basis in the Income
Statement. Deferred taxation is provided on all differences, which have originated but not reversed
by the Statement of Financial Position date, calculated at the rate at which it is anticipated the timing
differences will reverse. Deferred tax assets are recognised only when, based on available evidence, it is
more likely than not that there will be taxable profits in the future against which the deferred tax asset
can be offset.
Tax payable is based on the taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit may differ from net profit as
reported in the Income statement because it excludes items of income or expenditure that are taxable
or deductible in other periods and it further excludes items that are not taxable or deductible.
(h) Foreign currency
Transactions and investment income denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in sterling at actual
exchange rates at the date of the transaction or receipt. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at the year end are recorded in sterling at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
year end. Any gain or loss arising from a change in exchange rates, subsequent to the date of the
transaction, is included as an exchange gain or loss in the capital or revenue column of the Income
Statement, depending on whether the gain or loss is of a capital or revenue nature respectively.
The value of investments in foreign currencies is expressed in sterling at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the year end. Surpluses and deficits arising from conversion at this rate of exchange are included as
an exchange gain or loss in the capital column of the Income Statement and taken to the capital reserve.
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(i) Capital and revenue reserves
The following are taken to capital reserve:
Investment holding gains:
–

Increase and decrease in the valuation of investments held at the year end;

Other:
– 	Gains and losses on the disposal of investments;
– 	Exchange differences of a capital nature;
– 	Expenses, together with the related taxation effect, allocated to this reserve in accordance with the
above policies.
The following are taken to revenue reserve:
– 	the net revenue for the year is transferred to the revenue reserve and the final dividends are funded
from this reserve.
(j) Distributable reserves
Distributable reserves comprise revenue and the capital reserves attributable to realised profits.
(k) Going concern
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The majority of the net assets
of the Company are securities which are traded on recognised stock exchanges. After considering the
Company’s current financial resources, the Directors are satisfied that its resources are adequate for
continuing in business for the foreseeable future.
(l) Estimates and assumptions
FINANCIALS

The preparation of the Financial Statements requires the Directors to make estimates and assumptions
that affect items reported in the Statement of Financial Position and Income Statement. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current facts, circumstances and, to
some extent, future events and actions, the Company’s actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates, possibly significantly. The most important assumption and estimate during the year are
disclosed in notes 16 and 21 on pages 54 and 55 in relation to the valuation of the Finetex EnE holding.
(m) Segmental reporting
The Directors are of the opinion that the Company is engaged in a single segment of business being the
investment business. A geographical split of the portfolio can be seen on page 8.
2. Income

Income from investments:
Overseas dividends
UK dividends
Other income
Total

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

1,359
360
12
1,731

1,055
387
–
1,442
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
3. Investment management fees
2018

2017

Revenue
£’000

Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue
£’000

Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

86

345

431

72

289

361

(14)
72

(55)
290

(69)
362

(12)
60

(47)
242

(59)
302

Investment
management fees
Less management
fee rebates
Total

To avoid double charging investment management fees, the Investment Manager has agreed to rebate
any periodic management fee that it receives from the Company by the amount of fees receivable by
it from Blackfriars Asset Management Limited managed products (“Blackfriars products”) in respect of
the Company’s investments in those funds. The Investment Manager has agreed that any performance
fees that it earns from Blackfriars products in respect of the Company’s investment in those funds will
be rebated to the Company.
As at 31 March 2018 the Company had investments in the following Blackfriars products:
377,500 shares in Blackfriars Oriental Focus Fund ‘B’ at a total cost of £4,517,000 and a valuation at
31 March 2018 of £7,071,000.
Details of the investment management agreement are disclosed in note 6.
4. Other expenses
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

73
74
3
17
8
17
30
21
31
47
321

61
68
5
24
8
17
25
18
11
45
282

Capital expenses:
Research costs
Total capital expenses

26
26

–
–

Total other expenses

347

282

Revenue expenses:
Administration and secretarial services
Directors’ fees (see note 5)
Directors’ national insurance
Auditor’s remuneration
UK taxation compliance services
Overseas tax compliance services
Custodian fees
Registrar fees
Broker fees
Other expenses
Total revenue expenses
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5. Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ fees

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

74

68

The Chairman and Directors received emoluments of £22,000 and £16,500 (2017: £20,000 and
£15,000) per annum respectively, and the Chairman of the Audit Committee receives a further £2,750
(2017: £2,500) per annum. Tom Waring has waived his entitlement to Directors’ fees equivalent to
£16,500 (2017: £15,000) per annum since the appointment of Blackfriars Asset Management Limited
as Investment Manager to the Company.
6. Disclosure of interests
Investment management
In accordance with an investment management agreement between the Company and Blackfriars Asset
Management Limited (“Blackfriars”) dated 8 July 2014 Blackfriars has provided investment management
services to the Company with effect from 15 July 2014 for which Blackfriars receives an annual fee
of 1% of the Adjusted Market Capitalisation of the Company calculated on the last business day of
each calendar month and payable in arrears in respect of each calendar month. The Adjusted Market
Capitalisation per Share on the last business day of any calendar month is the average of the mid-market
prices of a Share on each business day in such calendar month. The Adjusted Market Capitalisation of
the Company on the last business day of any calendar month is the Adjusted Market Capitalisation per
Share on that day multiplied by the number of Shares in issue on that day.
The Company has entered into a Research Purchasing Agreement with the Investment Manager to meet
the cost of sell side research. Research costs incurred by the Company in the period are disclosed in
note 4.
No performance fee is in place in the investment management agreement with Blackfriars.

The amount charged for investment management fees during the year is shown in note 3 and £30,791
(2017: £28,220) of the fee for the current year was outstanding as a creditor as at the Statement of
Financial Position date.

FINANCIALS

Blackfriars’ appointment as Investment Manager is subject to termination by the Company on six
months’ notice.

Company Secretary and Administrator
With effect from 1 June 2017, the Company Secretary and Administrator has received a fee payable
monthly at a rate of one twelfth of £37,500 plus one twelfth of 0.085% of the Company’s Market
Capitalisation at the end of each month subject to a minimum monthly fee of £6,000 plus applicable VAT.
Prior to that, the Company Secretary and Administrator received a fee payable monthly at a rate of one
twelfth of £30,000 plus one twelfth of 0.085% of the Company’s market capitalisation at the end of
each month subject to a minimum monthly fee of £5,000 plus applicable VAT.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
7. Taxation
2018

2017

Revenue
£’000

Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue
£’000

Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

118

–

118

50

–

50

Overseas tax
suffered

The current taxation charge for the year is different from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK
of 19% (2017: 20%). The differences are explained below.
2018
£’000

Net return before tax
Theoretical tax at UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2017: 20%)
Effects of:
– Capital gains not subject to corporation tax
– UK dividends which are not taxable
– Overseas dividends which are not taxable
– Irrecoverable overseas withholding tax
– Movement in unutilised management expenses
Total tax charge

2017
£’000

(1,099)

11,811

(209)

2,362

408
(68)
(258)
118
127
118

(2,190)
(77)
(211)
50
116
50

The Company is an Investment Trust and, whilst it obtains exemption under section 1159 of the
Corporation Tax Act 2010, is not subject to UK taxation on capital gains.
In the opinion of the Directors the Company has complied with the requirements of section 1159 of the
Corporation Tax Act 2010.
Factors that may affect future tax charges
The Company has not recognised a deferred tax asset of £836,000 (2017: £817,000) based on tax rate
of 17% (2017: 19%) and unutilised expenses. These expenses could only be utilised if the Company
were to generate taxable profits which are subject to UK corporation tax in the future.
8. Dividends
(i) Paid during the financial year
2018
£’000

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 of 3.2p
per Ordinary Share (2016: 3.2p)
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2018 of 3.0p
per Ordinary Share (2017: 2.5p)
Special dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 of 4.3p
per Ordinary Share (2016: 3.9p)

2017
£’000

640

640

600

500

860
2,100

780
1,920
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(ii) Payable in respect of the financial year
The total dividends payable in respect of the financial year, which form the basis for complying with
section 1159 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 are set out below:
2018

2017

Revenue
£’000

Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue
£’000

Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

600

–

600

500

–

500

600

–

600

640

–

640

–
1,200

860
860

860
2,060

–
1,140

860
860

860
2,000

Interim dividend for
the year ended
31 March 2018 of
3.0p per Ordinary
Share (2017: 2.5p)
Proposed final
dividend for the
year ended
31 March 2018 of
3.0p per Ordinary
Share (2017: 3.2p)
Proposed special
dividend for the
year ended
31 March 2018 of
4.3p per Ordinary
Share (2017: 4.3p)

9. Return per Ordinary Share
2018
Revenue

Capital

2017
Total

Revenue

Capital

Total

£1,050,000 £10,711,000 £11,761,000

20,000,000

20,000,000

20,000,000

5.25p

53.56p

58.81p

FINANCIALS

Return after tax
1,220,000 (2,437,000) (1,217,000)
Weighted average
number of
shares in issue
20,000,000 20,000,000 20,000,000
Return per
Ordinary
Share
6.10p
(12.19)p
(6.09)p
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
10. Investments held at fair value through profit or loss

Investments listed on a recognised investment
exchange
Opening book cost
Opening investment holding gains
Opening valuation
Movements in year:
Purchases at cost
Sales of investments – cost
(Decrease)/increase in unrealised gains
Closing valuation
Closing book cost
Closing unrealised gains
Total

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

47,130

50,077

35,937
14,140
50,077

36,813
3,926
40,739

20,106
(17,756)
(5,297)
47,130
38,287
8,843
47,130

18,606
(19,482)
10,214
50,077
35,937
14,140
50,077

Investment transaction costs on purchases and sales of investments during the year to 31 March 2018
amounted to £65,000 and £76,000 respectively (2017: £70,000 and £64,000 respectively).
(Losses)/gains on investments in year per Income Statement
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

3,314
129
(5,297)
(1,854)

Gains on disposal of investments
Capital distributions received
Movement in revaluation of investments held
Balance at 31 March

17
127
10,214
10,358

Significant holdings
Included in the above are the following holdings in investment funds in which the Company has an
interest of 10% or more of the nominal value of the shares of that class in the investee company as at
31 March 2018.

Investment

Country of
registration
and listing

Class of capital

% of
class held

% of
fund held

Blackfriars Oriental Focus Fund

Republic of
Ireland

‘B’ US Dollar

53.3%

44.4%

The Company has arrangements in place with the Investment Manager to avoid double charging of fees
and expenses on investments made in other products managed by the Investment Manager (see note 3).
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11. Debtors

VAT recoverable
Prepayments and accrued income
Sales for future settlement
Total

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

–
136
–
136

4
175
634
813

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

69
–
69

98
1,343
1,441

12. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Accrued expenses
Purchases for future settlement
Total
13. Share capital

Authorised: Ordinary Shares
of 25p each
Issued and fully paid: Ordinary
Shares of 25p each

Number of
shares
000’s

2018
£’000

Number of
shares
000’s

2017
£’000

30,000

7,500

30,000

7,500

20,000

5,000

20,000

5,000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

14. Capital reserve
Capital expenditure and other gains/(losses)

18,170
17
127
595
–
(242)
(780)
17,887

FINANCIALS

17,887
3,314
129
(267)
(26)
(290)
(860)
19,887

Opening balance
Gains on disposal of investments
Capital distributions received
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains
Research costs
Investment management fees charged to capital
Dividends paid in year
Balance at 31 March
Investments held

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Opening balance
Movement in revaluation of investments held
Balance at 31 March

14,140
(5,297)
8,843

3,926
10,214
14,140

Capital reserve

28,730

32,027
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
15. Net asset value per share
The net asset value per Ordinary Share and the net asset value at the year end were as follows:
Net asset value per share

Net asset value

2018
pence

2017
pence

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

246.58

263.16

49,315

52,632

The net asset value per Ordinary Share is based on net assets of £49,315,000 (2017: £52,632,000) and
on 20,000,000 Ordinary Shares (2017: 20,000,000) being the number of Ordinary Shares in issue at the
financial year end.
16. Financial instruments and capital disclosures
Risk management policies and procedures
The investment objective of the Company is to achieve long-term capital growth from a managed
international portfolio of securities. The preservation of capital is of primary importance to the
investment objective. In pursuit of this objective, the Company may be exposed to various forms of risk,
as described below.
The Board has policies on diversification of investment, gearing (bank borrowing), dividends and risk
management, which it reviews in accordance with prevailing market conditions. Current policies are set
out in the Strategic Report. The Company’s assets are managed so as to diversify both the market risk
(including price risk) and liquidity risk that occurs in any equity portfolio and the Board monitors this
process (see Strategic Report).
The Board and its Investment Manager consider and review the risks inherent in managing the Company’s
assets which are detailed below:
Currency exposure at 31 March 2018
US
Dollar
£’000

Debtors
Cash at bank
Creditors

GB
HK Pounds
Dollar Sterling
£’000
£’000

Indian
Rupee
£’000

Korean
Won
£’000

Taiwan
Dollar
£’000

Philippine
Peso
£’000

Thai
Baht
£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

–

–

50

3

79

–

4

–

–

136

1,536

–

63

–

4

506

–

–

9

2,118

–

–

(69)

–

–

–

–

–

–

Foreign currency
exposure on net
monetary items

(69)

1,536

–

44

3

83

506

4

–

9

Equities held at fair
value through
profit or loss

7,817 10,719

7,568

4,919

4,878

3,790

1,917 2,740 2,782 47,130

Total net foreign
currency
exposure

9,353 10,719

7,612

4,922

4,961

4,296

1,921 2,740 2,791 49,315

2,185
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Currency exposure at 31 March 2017
US
Dollar
£’000

Debtors

GB
HK Pounds
Dollar Sterling
£’000
£’000

–

–

2,386
–

Foreign currency
exposure on net
monetary items
Equities held at fair
value through
profit or loss
Total net foreign
currency
exposure

Cash at bank
Creditors

Indian
Rupee
£’000

Korean Taiwan
Won Dollar
£’000
£’000

Philippine
Peso
£’000

Thai
Baht
£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

813

–

–

–

–

–

–

813

–

87

–

–

710

–

–

–

3,183

–

(1,441)

–

–

–

–

–

– (1,441)

2,386

–

(541)

–

–

710

–

–

–

9,101

9,596

9,633

5,796

5,036

3,848

2,412 2,303 2,352 50,077

11,487

9,596

9,092

5,796

5,036

4,558

2,412 2,303 2,352 52,632

2,555

Over the year GBP sterling strengthened against the US dollar by 11.90% (2017: weakened 12.60%),
strengthened against the Hong Kong dollar by 13.02% (2017: strengthened 12.46%) and strengthened
against the Thai baht by 1.65% (2017: strengthened 14.56%).
A 5% rise or decline of GBP sterling against foreign currency denominated (i.e. non-GBP sterling) assets
held at the year end would have decreased/increased the net asset value by £2,085,000 or 4.23% of
net asset value (2017: £2,177,000 or 4.14% of net asset value). It is not practical to estimate the impact
on the income statement since the profit and loss is the net result of all the transactions in the portfolio
throughout the year.
Interest rate risk

Equity price risk
If the fair value of the Company’s investments at the year end increased/decreased by 10% then it would
have the effect of £4,713,000 or 23.57 pence per Ordinary Share (2017: £5,008,000 or 25.04 pence
per Ordinary Share) on the capital return.

FINANCIALS

The Company is exposed to a very low level of interest rate risk through its cash deposits with The
Northern Trust Company. The Company had no borrowings at the year end (2017: nil) and therefore
sensitivity analysis to changes in LIBOR are not applicable.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is generally not significant in normal market conditions as the majority of the Company’s
investments are listed on recognised stock exchanges and for the most part consists of readily realisable
securities which can be sold easily to meet funding commitments if necessary. Short-term flexibility may
be achieved by the use of bank overdrafts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
16. Financial instruments and capital disclosures continued
Credit risk
Credit risk is mitigated by diversifying the counterparties through whom the Investment Manager
conducts investment transactions. The credit-standing of all counterparties are reviewed periodically
with limits set on amounts due from any one broker.
Cash is only held at banks and in money market funds that have been identified by the Board as
reputable and of high credit quality. The Northern Trust Company has a short-term deposit rating of P-1
with Moody’s and A-1+ with S&P. No cash was held in money market funds during the years ended 31
March 2018 and 31 March 2017.
Substantially all of the assets of the Company at the year end were held by the Custodian or
its sub‑custodians. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Custodian or its sub-custodians may cause the
Company’s rights with respect to securities held by the Custodian to be delayed or limited. The Custodian
segregates the Company’s assets from its own assets and only uses sub-custodians on its approved list
of sub-custodians. At the year end, the Custodian held £47,130,000 in respect of quoted investments.
The total credit exposure (representing current assets) of the Company at the year end as shown on the
Statement of Financial Position was £2,254,000 (2017: £3,996,000).
Valuation of financial instruments
FRS 102 requires that the classification of financial instruments be valued by reference to the source
of inputs used to derive the fair value. The fair value hierarchy classifications and their descriptions are
below:
Level 1
The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date.
Level 2
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable (i.e. developed using market
data) for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3
Inputs are unobservable (i.e. for which market data is unavailable) for the asset or liability.
The classification of the Company’s investments held at fair value is detailed in the table below:
31 March 2018

Investments

31 March 2017

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

46,547

–

583

47,130

48,806

836

435

50,077

There was no investment classified as Level 2 at the year end (2017: holding in Singer Sri Lanka, which
was held via a broker participatory note).
The investment classified as Level 3 is the holding in Finetex EnE (2017: holding in Silver Heritage),
whose shares are currently suspended with the valuation based on the assessment of available market
information on the security which represents a 50% provision against last traded price. Further details
are disclosed in note 21 on page 55.
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The valuation techniques used by the Company are explained in the accounting policies note 1(b) on
page 43.
Capital management policies and procedures
The capital managed by the Company represents only the Equity shareholders’ funds of £49,315,000
(2017: £52,632,000).
The Company currently has no borrowings.
The Company’s objectives, policies and procedures for managing capital are set out in the share capital
section of the Directors’ Report on pages 16 and 17.
The use of distributable reserves is disclosed in note 20.
17. Guarantees, financial commitments and contingent liabilities
There were no financial commitments outstanding at the year end (2017: none).
There were no contingent liabilities outstanding at the year end (2017: none).
18. Ongoing charges
2018

Total operating expenses

2017

£’000

% of average
net assets

£’000

% of average net
assets

683

1.28

584

1.22

The above ongoing charges figure is based on an average net assets figure for the financial year of
£53,380,000 (2017: £47,699,000).
19. Related party disclosure

Full details of Directors’ interests are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report on
page 31. Tom Waring is a director of Blackfriars.

FINANCIALS

Blackfriars Asset Management Limited (“Blackfriars”) acts as Investment Manager to the Company.
The fees paid to Blackfriars are disclosed in note 3 and further details of the relationship between the
Company and Blackfriars are set out in note 6.

20. Distributable reserves
The Company’s distributable reserves consist of the capital reserve attributable to realised profits and
revenue reserve. Dividends may be paid from either of these reserves.
21. Post balance sheet event
Based on the announcement by Finetex EnE regarding its auditor’s refusal of auditor’s opinion, missing the
deadline for filing an objection for the refusal and the continued suspension from trading, the Directors,
on the recommendation of and in agreement with the Investment Manager’s Pricing Committee, have
written down the value of the holding to nil. The position is being reviewed for any further changes in
valuation that may be appropriate.
The Finetex EnE holding represented 1.2% of the Company’s portfolio and 1.5% of the portfolio on a
look through basis as at the year end.
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Glossary
AIC

Association of Investment Companies.

Alternative Investment Fund or
“AIF”

An investment vehicle under AIFMD. Under AIFMD (see below)
the Company is classified as an AIF.

Alternative Investment Fund
Managers Directive or “AIFMD”

A European Union directive which came into force on 22 July
2013 and has been implemented in the UK.

Annual General Meeting or “AGM”

A meeting held once a year which shareholders can attend
and where they can vote on resolutions to be put forward at
the meeting and ask directors questions about the company in
which they are invested.

Custodian

An entity that is appointed to safeguard a company’s assets.

Discount

The amount, expressed as a percentage, by which the share
price is less than the net asset value per share.

Dividend

Income receivable from an investment in shares.

Ex-dividend date

The date from which you are not entitled to receive a dividend
which has been declared and is due to be paid to shareholders.

Financial Conduct Authority
or “FCA”

The independent body that regulates the financial services
industry in the UK.

Gearing

A way to magnify income and capital returns, but which can
also magnify losses. A bank loan is a common method of
gearing.

Index

A basket of stocks which is considered to replicate a particular
stock market or sector.

Investment company

A company formed to invest in a diversified portfolio of assets.

Investment Trust

An investment company which is based in the UK and which
meets certain tax conditions which enables it to be exempt
from UK corporation tax on its capital gains. The Company is an
investment trust.

Liquidity

The extent to which investments can be traded readily.

Net assets

An investment company’s assets less its liabilities.

Net asset value (NAV) per Ordinary
Share

Net assets divided by the number of Ordinary shares in issue
(excluding any shares held in treasury).

Ongoing charges

A measure of the regular, recurring annual costs of running an
investment company, expressed as a percentage of average net
assets.
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Ordinary Shares

The Company’s ordinary shares in issue.

Portfolio

A collection of different investments held in order to deliver
returns to shareholders and to spread risk.

Premium

The amount, expressed as a percentage, by which the share
price is more than the net asset value per share.

Share buyback

A purchase of a company’s own shares. Shares can either be
bought back for cancellation or held in treasury.

Share price

The price of a share as determined by a relevant stock market.

Total return

A measure of performance that takes into account both income
and capital returns. This may take into account capital gains,
dividends, interests and other realised variables over a given
period of time.

OTHER INFORMATION
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of The Establishment Investment Trust plc will be
held at the offices of Blackfriars Asset Management Limited, 9 Cloak Lane, London, EC4R 2RU on 12 July
2018 at 12 noon for the following purposes:
Ordinary Business
1.	To receive and adopt the Report of the Directors and the audited Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 March 2018.
2.	To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report included in the Annual Report for the
year ended 31 March 2018.
3. To approve a final dividend of 3.0p per Ordinary Share for the year ended 31 March 2018.
4. To approve a special dividend of 4.3p per Ordinary Share for the year ended 31 March 2018.
5. To re-elect Tom Waring as a Director of the Company.
6. To re-elect Harry Wells as a Director of the Company.
7. To re-elect Jim Ryall as a Director of the Company.
8. To re-elect Susan Thornton as a Director of the Company.
9. To re-appoint BDO LLP as Independent Auditor to the Company.
10.	To authorise the Directors to fix the remuneration of the Auditor until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company.
By order of the Board
Anthony Lee
For and on behalf of
PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited
Company Secretary
12 June 2018
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Notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting
1)	This Annual Report and Financial Statements is sent to holders of Ordinary shares, all of whom are entitled to attend, speak and
vote at the above-mentioned Annual General Meeting (“AGM”).
2)	Members entitled to attend and vote at the AGM are also entitled to appoint one or more proxies to exercise all or any of their
rights to attend, speak, and vote on their behalf. Where multiple proxies are appointed, they must be appointed to exercise the
rights in relation to different Ordinary shares. Proxies need not be members of the Company.
3)	A form of proxy is sent to members with the Annual Report and Financial Statements. To be valid the form of proxy and any power
of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed (or a notarially certified copy of that power of attorney or authority)
must be sent to the Company’s registrar – Link Asset Services, PXS 1, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU – so as to
arrive no later than 12 noon on 10 July 2018. Where multiple proxies are being appointed the form of proxy should be copied and
a separate one completed for each proxy identifying, that the form of proxy is a multiple form and the different Ordinary shares
that each proxy represents. Completion and return of form(s) of proxy will not preclude a member from attending, speaking and
voting in person at the AGM.
4)	CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies by utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for
the meeting and any adjournment(s) thereof by utilising the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members
or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to
their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.
5)	In order for any proxy appointment made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy
Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s (“EUI”) specifications and must
contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message must be transmitted so as
to be received by the issuer’s agent, Link Asset Services (ID: RA10), by 12 noon on 10 July 2018. In this respect the time of receipt
will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) at which
the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message in the manner prescribed by CREST.
6)	CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that EUI does not make
available special procedures in CREST for any particular message. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in
relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take such action
as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by the particular time the CREST
member requires.
7)	The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5) (a) of the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001.
8)	A person who is not a member of the Company and receives this notice of meeting as a person nominated by a member to enjoy
information rights under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 (“Act”) does not have a right to appoint proxies. However, if
a nominated person has an agreement with the member who nominated them, the nominated person may have a right to be
appointed as a proxy or a right to instruct the member as to the exercise of voting rights at the AGM.
9)	Shareholders entered on the Register of Members of the Company at the close of business on 10 July 2018, or close of business
on the day two days prior to the time of an adjourned meeting, shall be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM. Any changes to
the Register of Members after such dates shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any shareholders to attend and vote at
the AGM.
10)	Under section 319(A) of the Act, the Company must cause to be answered any question relating to the business being dealt with
at the AGM put by a member attending the AGM unless answering the question would interfere unduly with the preparation
for the meeting, would involve the disclosure of confidential information, an answer has already been given on a website, or is
undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the AGM.
11)	Members may not use any electronic address provided in this notice or any related document(s) to communicate with the
Company for any purpose other than as specifically stated.
12)	As at 12 June 2018, the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this notice, the Company’s issued share capital comprised
20,000,000 Ordinary shares of 25p each, of which none are held in treasury. Each Ordinary share carries a right to one vote at
general meetings of the Company and accordingly the total number of voting rights in the Company as at 12 June 2018 is
20,000,000.
13)	Information regarding the AGM, including the information required by section 311A of the Act, can be found on the Company’s
web pages by following the appropriate links at www.blackfriarsam.com
14) No Director has a service agreement with the Company.

16)	Members may require the Company, under section 527 of the Act, to publish on a website a statement setting out any matter
relating to the audit of the Company’s Accounts being laid before the meeting, including the Auditor’s report and the conduct of
the audit at the Company’s expense. Where the Company is required to place such a statement on a website it must forward the
statement to the Company’s Auditor not later than the time when it makes the statement available on that website, and include
the statement in the business to be dealt with at the meeting.

OTHER INFORMATION

15)	Member(s) have a right in accordance with section 388 of the Act to require the Company to give to members of the Company
entitled to receive the above notice of meeting, notice of any resolution which they may properly move at the meeting. Under
section 338A of the Act member(s) may request the Company to include in the business to be dealt with at the meeting any
matter, other than a proposed resolution, which may be properly included in that business.
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Company Information
Directors

Investment Manager

Harry Wells (Chairman)
Gregory Shenkman
Jim Ryall
Susan Thornton
Tom Waring

Blackfriars Asset Management Limited
9 Cloak Lane
London EC4R 2RU
Tel: 020 7332 2270
www.blackfriarsam.com

Corporate Secretary and Registered Office

Solicitors

PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited
Mermaid House
2 Puddle Dock
London EC4V 3DB
Tel: 020 7653 9690
www.praxisifm.com

Stephenson Harwood
1 Finsbury Circus
London EC2M 7SH

Registrars
Link Asset Services
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham
Kent BR3 4TU

Registered Auditor
BDO LLP
55 Baker Street
London W1U 7EU
Custodian
The Northern Trust Company
50 Bank Street
Canary Wharf
London E14 5NT

Broker
Stockdale Securities
Beaufort House
15 St Botolph Street
London EC3A 7BB

The Company’s web pages can be accessed by logging on to: www.blackfriarsam.com
Individual Savings Account (‘ISA’)
The Company’s shares are eligible to be held in an ISA account subject to HM Revenue & Customs’ limits
Registered in England No. 4355437

LISTED
PREMIUM
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Form of Proxy
The Establishment Investment Trust plc
I/We ______________________________________________________________________________________
of ________________________________________________________________________________________
(BLOCK CAPITALS PLEASE)
being (a) member(s) of The Establishment Investment Trust plc appoint the chairman of the meeting
or (see note 1)______________________________________________________________________________
of_________________________________________________________________________________________
as my/our proxy to attend and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the
Company to be held at the offices of Blackfriars Asset Management Limited, 9 Cloak Lane, London, EC4R
2RU on 12 July 2018 at 12 noon and at any adjournment thereof.
Please indicate with an X in the spaces provided how you wish your votes to be cast on the resolutions specified.
Resolution

For

Against

Withheld

Discretionary

1.	To receive and adopt the Report of the Directors and
the audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 March 2018.
2.	To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation
Report included in the Annual Report.
3.	To approve a final dividend of 3.0p per Ordinary Share.
4.

To approve a special dividend of 4.3p per Ordinary Share.

5.

To re-elect Tom Waring as a Director of the Company.

6.	To re-elect Harry Wells as a Director of the Company.
7.	To re-elect Jim Ryall as a Director of the Company.
8.	To re-elect Susan Thornton as a Director of the Company.
9.	To re-appoint BDO LLP as Independent Auditor to the
Company.
10.	To authorise the Directors to fix the remuneration of the
Auditor until the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company.

Subject to any voting instructions so given the proxy will vote, or may abstain from voting, on any resolution
as he may think fit.
Signature .............................................................. Dated this ........................ day of ........................ 2018
NOTES
1.	If you so desire you may delete the words ’chairman of the meeting’ and insert the name of your own choice of proxy, who need
not be a member of the Company. Please initial such alteration.
2.	The proxy form must be lodged at the Company’s registrars, Link Asset Services, PXS 1, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent
BR3 4TU, not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting. In default the proxy cannot be treated as valid.
3.	Alternatively, in the case of CREST members, voting may be effected by using the CREST electronic proxy appointment service.
CREST members who wish to utilise the CREST service may do so by following the procedures described in the CREST Manual.
CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service
provider, should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider, who will be able to take the appropriate action on
their behalf. In order for a proxy appointment made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message must be
transmitted so as to be received by the Company’s agent, Link Asset Services (whose CREST ID is RA10) by the specified latest
time for receipt of proxy appointments. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the
timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) at which the Company’s agent is able to retrieve the message
by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed.
4.

A corporation must execute the proxy under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

5.	If this proxy form is executed under a power of attorney or other authority, such power of attorney or other authority or a
notarially certified copy thereof must be lodged with the Registrars with the proxy form.
6.	In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior shall be accepted to the exclusion of the other joint holders, seniority being
determined by the order in which the names stand in the register in respect of the joint holding.
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